No. 14-113025-A

JUN - 4 2015

HEATHER L. SMITH
CLERK OF APPELLATE COURTS

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF KANSAS

KAPE Roofing and Gutters, Inc., and Chuck Cooper,

Appellants,

v.

Chad Chebultz, an individual; and Community First National Bank, a banking corporation,

Appellees.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT DISTRICT COURT, DICKINSON COUNTY, KANSAS THE HONORABLE DAVID R. PLATT, DISTRICT JUDGE DISTRICT COURT CASE NO. 12-CV-73

ORAL ARGUMENT: THIRTY MINUTES

CALEB BOONE, Attorney at Law Suite 304, 1200 Main Street Post Office Box 188 Hays, Kansas 67601 P: 785-625-6551 F: 785-625-7733 C: 785-623-0023 E: caleb@eaglecom.net # 11214

NATURE OF THE CASE

This was a claim for injunction, defamation, interference with prospective business advantage, breach of contract and foreclosure of a mechanic's lien. The District Court granted default judgment against the Plaintiffs and an affirmative judgment in favor of the Defendant upon his counterclaim. The Plaintiffs bring this appeal.

ISSUES

- 1. Whether the District Court erred in granting summary judgment on the Defendants' counterclaim and default judgment dismissing the Plaintiffs' Petition?
- 2. Whether the District Court erred in granting judgment for violation of the Consumer Protection Act?
- 3. Whether the District Court erred in granting judgment for outrageous conduct and punitive damages flowing therefrom?
- 4. Whether the District Court erred in failing to dismiss the counterclaim or deny judgment to the Defendants based upon the advice of counsel defense?

STATEMENT OF FACTS

- 1. The Plaintiffs sued the Defendant for defaming and slandering the Plaintiffs and causing damage to the Plaintiffs' roofing business in the form of lost income. In addition, the Plaintiffs requested foreclosure of a mechanic's lien to satisfy the remaining balance owed for labor performed upon and materials incorporated into the Defendant's home in Abilene, Dickinson County, all as set forth more particularly in the Plaintiffs' Amended Petition, which is attached to this brief at the (Please see the Appendix to this Brief, Copy of Amended Petition, Record Volume 1, pages 14 to 46).
- 2. During the Pretrial process in this case, Counsel for the Plaintiffs had a conflict in his schedule because he was required to travel to Eastern Pennsylvania to attend a deposition on March 7, 2014, which the District Court had set for the date of the Pretrial Conference and hearing of Partial Motions For Summary Judgment upon the issue of mechanic's lien foreclosure. Counsel for the Plaintiffs had informed the court and other counsel of that fact sometime before March 7, 2014, during a telephone conference call, in which all Counsel agreed to reschedule the March 7, 2014 hearing and to re-set it for a later date (Record, Volume 7, page 12, line 3 to line 23; See Also, Record Volume 8, page 11, line 9 to page 23, line 18; see also Record Volume 8, page 23, line 19 to page 35, line 21).
- 3. Counsel for the Plaintiffs was in the process of preparing the Journal Entry of Continuance but did not have at hand the new hearing date. Plaintiffs' Counsel

therefore had contacted opposing counsel and the Court's administrative assistant to determine that date by telephone. Despite making these telephone calls, Counsel for the Plaintiff did not receive return telephone calls with this information (Record Volume 8, page 11, line 9 to page 23, line 18; see also page 23, line 19 to page 35, line 21).

- 4. Counsel for the Plaintiffs was attempting to comply with the Court's orders and was simply trying to complete the drafting of the order for continuance and had inadvertently misplaced the note containing the correct new date and time for the hearing (Record Volume 8, page 11, line 9 to page 23, line 18; see also page 23, line 19 to page 35, line 21).
- 5. When Counsel contacted the Court's Administrative Assistant, the Administrative Assistant did not have the new date and time and so Plaintiffs' Counsel contacted Defense Counsel to obtain that date, as stated above (Record Volume 8, page 11, line 9 to page 23, line 18; see also page 23, line 19 to page 35, line 21).
- 6. The court conducted a hearing with Defense Counsel on March 7, 2014 and struck the Plaintiffs' pleadings and granted default judgment against the Plaintiffs on their Petition and granted Summary Judgment against the Plaintiffs upon the previously-filed Partial Summary Judgment Motions (Record Volume 18, page 1 to page 14, line 21).
- 7. The oral contract which the parties entered into did contain an agreement for KAPE to provide or subcontract interior repair or remodeling work on the basement of the Chebultz home. Chad Chebultz requested that work and KAPE located, provided

and supervised Chad Olson to perform such work, with Chad Chebultz' knowledge, consent and approval. Jarrod Sawyer described the whole oral contract with Chebultz as "a lee-wise, go ahead and do that kind of a contract. You know, we were working in close proximity from the month of June until August on his [Chad Chebultz'] home. He has a very large house." (Jarrod Sawyer Deposition, Record Volume 3, page 161 (deposition page 11), lines 18-21; also page 161 (deposition page 11), line 2 to line 19; page 163 (deposition page 18), lines 19-20; page 160 (deposition page 8), line 17 to page 161 (deposition page 10), line 19; especially, page 160 (deposition page 9), lines 16 to 17; and page 161 (deposition page 10), lines 14 to 19).

- 8. Jarrod Sawyer, a KAPE representative, has personal direct knowledge that Chad Chebultz was introduced to Chad Olson because Jarrod Sawyer, on behalf of KAPE, himself introduced Chebultz to Olson, which is direct evidence that Chad Chebultz certainly knew he was being introduced by KAPE to Chad Olson (Deposition of Jarrod Sawyer, Rec. Vol. 4, page 4 (deposition page 47), line 10 to page 4 (deposition page 48), line 5).
- 9. Chad Chebultz suggested, KAPE agreed and facilitated, and KAPE assisted Chad Olson in carrying out, the terms of the contract which KAPE had with its subcontractor Chad Olson for the Chad Chebultz home, which were: "The basics of the insurance claim of what they were covering. I believe it was some carpeting, some drywall, an area around a chimney, a window, a light fixture to be removed and reset and some painting on the drywall after it was replaced. That's the main thing" (Jarrod Sawyer Deposition, Rec. Vol. 3, page 162 (deposition page 17), lines 16 to 25; Sawyer

- Deposition, Rec. Vol. 3, page 162 (deposition page 15), lines 3 to 18; page 162 (deposition page 16), line 12 to page 162 (deposition page 17), line 25).
- 10. Chad Olsen did in fact work as a subcontractor for KAPE Roofing (Deposition of Brian Weary, Rec. Vol. 4, page 12 (deposition page 17), line 17 to page 13 (deposition page 21), line 5).
- 11. Brian Weary and Jarrod Sawyer helped Chad Olson with difficulties in the performance of his construction duties (Deposition of Brian Weary, Rec. Vol. 4, page 12 (deposition page 15), line 25 to page 12 (deposition page 16), line 5; page 13 (deposition page 18), line 11 to line 16; page 13 (deposition page 20), line 16 to 21, line 5; Jarrod Sawyer Deposition, Rec. Vol. 4, page 2 (deposition page 41), line 19 to page 3 (deposition page 42), line 13).
- 12. Jarrod and Brian also helped answer numerous other questions which Chad Olson had, from time to time, via telephone, as any principal contractor or contracting supervisor would (Deposition of Brian Weary, Rec. Vol. 4, page 10 (deposition page 8), lines 9 to 19, especially 18-19; page 11 (deposition page 13), line 1 to page 12 (deposition page 17), line 10).
- 13. Brian Weary was asked to explain the reason he referred to Chad Olson as a subcontractor: "Q: If he [Chad Olson] went to Chad Chebultz directly, called him, got together with him, arranged the work, how does that make him [Chad Olson] a subcontractor under KAPE? A: Because he [Chad Olson] checked up with us every day of the job. He'd discuss questions or whatnot, and like I said, nine times out of

- ten, he was calling Jarrod and not myself." (Brian Weary Deposition, Rec. Vol. 4, page 13 (deposition page 20), line 16 to line 23).
- 14. Jarrod Sawyer, a KAPE employee who worked on the Chebultz home repair, testified: "we [KAPE] ended up doing some basement work on the insurance claim via Chad Olson" (Deposition of Jarrod Sawyer, Rec. Vol. 3, page 162 (deposition page 14), lines 5-70).
- 15. Chad Olson had been previously engaged as a subcontractor to KAPE on various other occasions when KAPE needed "a fix-it guy [who] does smaller jobs, or touchups or ceiling work" (Sawyer Deposition, Rec. Vol. 3, page 162 (deposition page 16), lines 5 to 7; See also Sawyer Deposition, Rec. Vol. 4, page 12 (deposition page 15), line 5 to page 12 (deposition page 17), line 12).
- 16. In this case, KAPE, pursuant to its normal practice with Olson, made an oral subcontract, the terms of which were easily defined by the circumstances: "We then found Chad Olson. . . . We then did the sub-basement work that sometime finished after Thanksgiving. It would have been in the beginning of December. . . . [Our contract] was all verbal with him. He did some work for us as well on a couple other homes. . . . So we're always finding a gentleman like Chad Olson to do those types of jobs, and we had found Chad to do siding repair on one home, painting on another and then Chad Chebultz' basement work" (Sawyer Deposition, Rec. Vol. 12 (deposition page 14), line 16 to line 24; page 12 (deposition page 15), line 5 to 7; page 12 (deposition page 16), lines 7 to 11).

- 17. Brian Weary and Jarrod Sawyer did find Chad Olson, solicit his labor for the Chebultz home, and accomplish the referral of Chad Olsen to the Chebultz home job in Abilene which consisted of basement renovation work (Deposition of Brian Weary, Rec. Vol. 4, page 11 (deposition page 13), line 1 to page 12 (deposition page 17), line 10; Jarrod Sawyer Deposition, page 4 (deposition page 47), line 10 to page 4 (deposition page 49), line 13).
- 18. Chad Olson was under the supervision and control of Jarrod Sawyer and Brian Weary, his general contractor supervisors, and Olson daily, and repeatedly, contacted them by telephone for specific instructions concerning the job and for help with difficult details and other arrangements (Brian Weary Deposition Rec. Vol. 4, pages 10-14: page 8, lines 9 to 19; page 13, line 1 to page 17, line 10; page 20, line 16 to line 23; Deposition of Brian Weary, Rec. Vol. 4, pages 10-14: page 15, line 25 to page 16, line 5; page 18, line 11 to line 16; page 20, line 16 to 21, line 5; Jarrod Sawyer Deposition, Rec. Vol. 4, pages 2-8: page 41, line 19 to page 42, line 13).
- 19. KAPE did make a concerted effort to specifically locate and procure Chad Olson to perform necessary work for Chad Olson (Deposition of Jarrod Sawyer, Rec. Vol. 3, pages 159-162: page 14, lines 5-7; page 16, lines 7-11; page 16, lines 6 and 12-14; page 17, lines 16-25).
- 20. Olson was working for KAPE, under the supervision of KAPE, as a subcontractor for KAPE, and Olson daily and regularly called upon KAPE for assistance with numerous details concerning Olson's work at the Chebultz home. Brian Weary and Jarrod Sawyer did find Chad Olson, solicit his labor for the Chebultz home, and accomplish

- the referral of Chad Olsen to the Chebultz home job in Abilene which consisted of basement renovation work (Deposition of Brian Weary, Rec. Vol. 4, pages 12: page 13, line 1 to page 17, line 10; Jarrod Sawyer Deposition, Rec. Vol. 4, page 4: page 47, line 10 to page 49, line 13).
- 21. The oral basement remodeling contract which was made between KAPE and Chebultz did exist and was part of the oral contract which KAPE had with Chebultz. Jarrod Sawyer described the whole oral contract with Chebultz as "a lee-wise, go ahead and do that kind of a contract. You know, we were working in close proximity from the month of June until August on his [Chad Chebultz'] home. He has a very large house." (Jarrod Sawyer Deposition, Rec. Vol. 3, pages 161-162: page 11, lines 18-21; also page 11, line 2 to page 11, line 19, page 18, lines 19-20; page 8, line 17 to page 10, line 19; especially, page 9, lines 16 to 17; and page 10, lines 14 to 19).
- 22. There were numerous aspects of the KAPE-subcontracted basement remodeling job, performed by subcontractor Chad Olson, which were not completed until after Thanksgiving, or, in other words, not until sometime in December, 2011, well after July 14th (Jarrod Sawyer Deposition, Rec. Vol. 3, pages 161-162: page 13, line 11 to page 14, line 24; See also Wayne Ducolon Deposition, Rec. Vol. 4, pages 17-18: page 94, line 1 to page 99, line 18).
- 23. Chad Olson was paid by insurance proceeds which were transmitted from Texas by Colonel James, the owner of the house at the time the hail damage occurred, and were given to Chad Olson only upon the approval of KAPE, acting through KAPE representative Wayne Ducolon who personally attended a final work-related meeting

- on or about December 31, 2011, at the Chebultz home (Deposition of Wayne Ducolon, Rec. Vol. 4, page 16: page 87, lines 7 to 16).
- 24. Chad Olson would not have been paid unless Wayne Ducolon of KAPE had approved payment to Chad Olson directly, which he did during the December 31, 2011 meeting (Wayne Ducolon Deposition, Rec. Vol. 4, page 16: page 87, line 7 to line 16).
- 25. Jarrod Sawyer corrected his deposition at page 46, lines 6 to 8 to state that KAPE's insurance does cover interior work (Sawyer Deposition, Rec. Vol. 4, page 4: page 46, lines 6 to 8).
- 26. Jarrod Sawyer testified that Chad Olson commenced work on the Chebultz basement project after Thanksgiving, 2011, because Chad Chebultz did not want basement work taking place in his home due to visiting family members and because Chad Olson had medical problems and those medical problems interrupted and slowed Olson's work on the Chebultz home (Jarrod Sawyer Deposition, Rec. Vol. 4, page 4: page 48, line 24 to page 49, line 13).
- 27. Jarrod Sawyer testified: "It would have been after Thanksgiving that he [Chad Olson] commenced [work] on the basement because there was a question on he has medical issues and concerns." (Sawyer Deposition, Rec. Vol. 4, page 4: page 49, lines 1 to 4).
- 28. Chad Olson gave his invoice to KAPE to obtain payment for his work because he was a subcontractor for KAPE and was obtained to do the Chebultz work by KAPE, and KAPE was Olson's general and supervising contractor (Sawyer Deposition, Rec. Vol. 4, pages 3-4: page 45, line 18 to page 46, line 8; page 47, line 10 to page 48, line 1).

- 29. Chad Olson's work was not completed until after Thanksgiving, 2011, or sometime during December, 2011. Jarrod Sawyer testified specifically that Chad Olson commenced work on the Chebultz basement project after Thanksgiving, 2011, because Chad Chebultz did not want basement work taking place in his home due to visiting family members and because Chad Olson had medical problems and those medical problems interrupted and slowed Olson's work on the Chebultz home (Jarrod Sawyer Deposition, Rec. Vol. 4, page 4: page 48, line 24 to page 49, line 13).
- 30. The Defendant Chad Chebultz did not sign the written roofing contract with the Plaintiff KAPE, which is the contract at issue in this lawsuit (Rec. Vol. 19, page 74, line 22 to page 75, line 16).
- 31. The Defendant Chad Chebultz never promised to sign the roofing contract with the Plaintiff KAPE, or return it to the Plaintiff KAPE's agent Jarrod Sawyer, with his (Chad Chebultz') signature upon it (Rec. Vol. 19, page 74, line 22 to page 75, line 16).
- 32. Chad Chebultz told KAPE's agent Jarrod Sawyer: "I do not own the home." And "I was never going to sign a contract" (Rec. Vol. 19, page 74, line 22 to page 75, line 16).
- 33. The homeowner's roof damage insurance policy insured name was never changed from Colonel James to Chad Chebultz. The true owner of the homeowner's insurance policy and the true named insured under the homeowner's insurance policy which provided coverage for the roof and structure damage at issue in this case was always Colonel James who was the only person who had the right to receive the insurance company checks or policy proceeds resulting from the adjustment of the

- roof/structure damage or loss at issue in this case (Rec. Vol. 19, page 75, line 17 to page 76, line 8; Rec. Vol. 19, page 76, line 20 to page 78, line 14).
- 34. Chad Chebultz did not have access to any of the homeowner's insurance proceeds or funds. He had no control over the homeowner's insurance funds. He, "as a businessman," would never sign a contract which he did not have the financial ability to take care of; therefore, Chad Chebultz told KAPE's agent Jarrod Sawyer he did not intend to sign the KAPE Roofing contract (Rec. Vol. 19, page 94, line 5 to page 96, line 9; Rec. Vol. 19, page 74, line 22 to page 76, line 8).
- 35. Chad Chebultz as a layman never considered that the benefits or provisions of the KAPE roofing contract would accrue to him because he did not own the roof/structure property damage insurance policy and the policy was still in the name of Colonel James, and he told Jarrod Sawyer so on June 3, 2011 (Rec. Vol. 4, page 74, line 22 to page 76, line 8).
- 36. Chad Chebultz testified that KAPE's work on the home "was wonderful, they did a great job." And: "There wasn't a speck of nail, shingle, anything in the yard." (Rec. Vol. 19, page 84, line 6 to line 24).
- 37. Chad Chebultz testified that KAPE's roofing work "was wonderful" and KAPE "really had this roof knocked out, including the garage, within three days. They spent the next morning cleaning up and taking extra materials with them. It was wonderful." (Rec. Vol. 19, page 84 line 6 to line 24).
- 38. Chad Chebultz had no criticism of the quality of the work that KAPE did (Rec. Vol. 19, page 84 line 6 to line 24).

- 39. The Plaintiff KAPE, its representatives and Chuck Cooper and his representatives believed in good faith that the oral contract which the parties entered into did contain an agreement for KAPE to provide or subcontract interior repair or remodeling work on the basement of the Chebultz home. Chad Chebultz requested that work and KAPE located, provided and supervised Chad Olson to perform such work, with Chad Chebultz' knowledge, consent and approval. Jarrod Sawyer described the whole oral contract with Chebultz as "a lee-wise, go ahead and do that kind of a contract. You know, we were working in close proximity from the month of June until August on his [Chad Chebultz'] home. He has a very large house." (Jarrod Sawyer Deposition, Rec. Vol. 3, pages 161-163: page 11, lines 18-21; also page 11, line 2 to page 11, line 19, page 18, lines 19-20; page 8, line 17 to page 10, line 19; especially, page 9, lines 16 to 17; and page 10, lines 14 to 19).
- 40. Jarrod and Brian also helped answer numerous other questions which Chad Olson had, from time to time, via telephone, as any principal contractor or contracting supervisor would (Deposition of Brian Weary, Rec. Vol. 4, pages 10-12: page 8, lines 9 to 19, especially 18-19; page 13, line 1 to page 17, line 10).
- 41. The Plaintiff KAPE, its representatives and Chuck Cooper and his representatives believed in good faith that Chad Olson was their subcontractor. Jarrod Sawyer, a KAPE employee who worked on the Chebultz home repair, testified: "we [KAPE] ended up doing some basement work on the insurance claim via Chad Olson" (Deposition of Jarrod Sawyer, Rec. Vol. 3, page 162: page 14, lines 5-70).

- 42. Chad Olson had been previously engaged as a subcontractor to KAPE on various other occasions when KAPE needed "a fix-it guy [who] does smaller jobs, or touch-ups or ceiling work" (Sawyer Deposition, Rec. Vol. 3, page 162: page 16, lines 5 to 7; See also Sawyer Deposition, Rec. Vol. 3, page 162: page 15, line 5 to page 17 line 12).
- 43. The Plaintiff KAPE, its representatives and Chuck Cooper and his representatives believed in good faith that Brian Weary and Jarrod Sawyer did find Chad Olson, solicit his labor for the Chebultz home, and accomplish the referral of Chad Olsen to the Chebultz home job in Abilene which consisted of basement renovation work (Deposition of Brian Weary, Rec. Vol. 4, pages 11-12: page 13, line 1 to page 17, line 10; Jarrod Sawyer Deposition, Rec. Vol. 4, page 4, page 47, line 10 to page 49, line 13).
- 44. The Plaintiff KAPE, its representatives and Chuck Cooper and his representatives believed in good faith that Chad Olson was under the supervision and control of Jarrod Sawyer and Brian Weary, his general contractor supervisors, and Olson daily, and repeatedly, contacted them by telephone for specific instructions concerning the job and for help with difficult details and other arrangements (Brian Weary Deposition, Rec. Vol. 4, pages 10-13: page 8, lines 9 to 19; page 13, line 1 to page 17, line 10; page 20, line 16 to line 23; Deposition of Brian Weary, Rec. Vol. 4, pages 12-13: page 15, line 25 to page 16, line 5; page 18, line 11 to line 16; page 20, line 16 to 21, line 5; Jarrod Sawyer Deposition, Rec. Vol. 4, pages 2-3: page 41, line 19 to page 42, line 13).
- 45. The Plaintiff KAPE, its representatives and Chuck Cooper and his representatives believed in good faith that KAPE did make a concerted effort to specifically locate and

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