FILED

AUG 31 2015

HEATHER L. SMITH CLERK OF APPELLATE COURTS

No. 14-113025-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS

KAPE ROOFING & GUTTERS, INC., and CHUCK COOPER, Plaintiffs - Appellants

٧.

CHAD CHEBULTZ, an individual; and COMMUNITY FIRST NATIONAL BANK, a banking corporation,

Defendants - Appellees

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

Appeal from the District Court of Dickinson County, Kansas Honorable David L. Platt District Court Case No. 2012-CV-000073-OT

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

³ Chebultz, who was awarded judgment, was a defendant but in the position of plaintiff on the counterclaims; his proposed findings and conclusions were adopted. Journal Entry of Judgment (10-24-14) at R. 6, 8.

At the hearing on Dec. 5, 2014, the district court ruled that it did not have jurisdiction to hear Kape's motion to alter or amend, Tr. Tran. (12-5-14) R. 12, 10:6-12, but in case it did have jurisdiction, allowed the parties to argue, and then ruled:

The Court doesn't believe that you can rely on advice of counsel, when you've given counsel inaccurate information. And as the Court has previously ruled, Chad Olson was not a subcontractor and had Mike Alley been informed of the accurate facts concerning the relationship, clearly, I don't think he would have even suggested that Mr. Olson was a sub and, therefore, the filing of the mechanic's lien would not have been timely As far as the outrageous conduct, obviously the Court found the false, misleading actions previously noted in my findings of facts and conclusion. And would confirm those and confirm that there was, in fact, outrageous conduct that met the threshold and the Court would deny the plaintiffs' motion, if I have jurisdiction, too.

Id. at 18:21-19:18; Journal Entry (12-5-14), R. 6, 90-91. On Dec. 31, 2014, this case was docketed at the Kansas Court of Appeals. Appearance Docket, at R. 1, at 13.

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. Did the District Court Err in Ruling that Olson Was Not a Subcontractor and Granting Defendants' Joint Motion for Partial Summary Judgment?

Standard of Review

"Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admission on file, together with the affidavits show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The trial court is required to resolve all facts and inferences which may reasonably be drawn from the evidence in favor of the party against whom the ruling is sought. When opposing a motion for summary judgment, an adverse party must come forward with evidence to establish a dispute as to a material fact. In order to preclude summary judgment, the facts subject to the dispute must be material to the conclusive issues in the case. On appeal, we apply the same rules[,] and where we find reasonable minds could differ as to the conclusions drawn from the evidence, summary judgment must be denied. [Citations omitted.]

Seaboard Corp. v. Marsh, Inc., 295 Kan., 384, 394, 284 P.3d 314, 321 (2012), citing Shamberg, Johnson & Bergman, Chtd. v. Oliver, 289 Kan. 891, 900, 220 P.3d 333 (2009).

Discussion

The district court stated: "it seems pretty clear to me, in reviewing everything, that there wasn't a contractor situation where Olson was the subcontractor. There was not work performed within the statutory period: based on the uncontroverted information before the Court, that Count 3...would be dismissed...concerning foreclosure of mechanic's lien." Tran. (3/7/14), R. 18 at 10-11. The district court did not abuse its discretion when arriving at this ruling, which was more than amply supported by the record developed in discovery and outlined in defendants' joint motion.

The Kansas Supreme Court addressed the issue of contractor/subcontractor relationships in *Calvert W. Exploration Co. v. Shamrock*, 234 Kan. 699, 704-05, 675 P.2d 871, 875 (1984). The court held: "In order for an agreement to be a subcontract, there must be a preexisting prime contract between a principal and a contractor, the latter who then enters into an agreement with a third party, a subcontractor, for the third party to perform all or part of the prime contract." *Id.*

The Kansas Supreme Court also ruled in 1988 that there are some "basic requirements of a subcontract". *J.W. Thompson Co. v. Welles Products Corp.*, 243 Kan. 503, 507, 758 P.2d 738, 741 (1988).

. . . [T]he terms of the purchase order are significantly lacking in the basic requirements of a subcontract. The instrument speaks of the sale price, contract of sale, return of goods, security interest in goods delivered, delivery dates, etc. There is no reference to work to be performed, performance bonds, maintenance of general liability insurance, workers' compensation requirements, that proof be supplied of payment of labor and materials used, hold harmless agreements for negligence, etc.

Id. (emphasis added). Based on these two cases, the <u>Pattern Instructions Kansas 4th</u>, <u>Civil</u>, at § 124.02 "Definition of a Subcontract", provides: "A subcontract is an agreement between a

person and a contractor whereby the person agrees to perform all or part of the work the contractor agreed to perform under a preexisting contract with a third party".

Here, the facts demonstrate that Olson was not a subcontractor under the prime contract between Kape and Chebultz. There are two potential conclusions to draw from the facts: either (1) Kape agents casually referred Olson to Chebultz and had no intention at that time to treat him as a subcontractor, but later changed their view when Olson's status as subcontractor became critical for the mechanic's lien and/or material to entitlement to the overhead and profit from the insurer; or (2) Kape agents were seeking a subcontractor for the job, despite not telling Chebultz that they were, and regarded Olson as subcontractor when Adam Soakup failed to take the job, but did not secure the proper agreements or documentation to substantiate the contract and did not purchase the materials, pay Olson, inspect the job, or in other ways treat Olson as they did their other subcontractors.

In either case, Olson was not Kape's subcontractor. Neither a casual referral, not a unilateral perception, establishes a contractor/subcontractor relationship. Kape's agent Sawyer testified there were four people working on the Chebultz home as alleged subcontractors: the roofing crew chief, the gutter contractor, the skylight installer, and Olson. None of these, other than Olson, had an individual discussion with Chebultz on the scope and nature of the work to be done; none of these, other than Olson, were supplied with the materials for their work individually by Chebultz; none of these, other than Olson, were present at the Dec. 2011 meeting to receive payment; none of these, other than Olson, received payment individually from Chebultz. Chebultz Affidavit, R. 3, at 99-100.

Kape's initial bid for the Chebultz project contains no reference to interior work. While it is certainly true that a contract can be amended orally, Kape has provided no persuasive evidence

to support its assertion that there was a meeting of the minds with either Chebultz or Olson to amend the original contract for roofing and guttering to include the interior work at the Chebultz home. All parties agree that Kape agents gave Chebultz's contact information to Olson, but from there the stories diverge. Kape agents state that Olson worked for Kape, but Olson denies it. Olson gave Kape an invoice, made out to Colonel James and Chebultz (not to Kape), in order to facilitate getting the insurance company to pay for his work, but Olson gave his initial bids to Chebultz, worked through Chebultz to get materials, performed the tasks set by Chebultz and accepted payment from Chebultz. What Kape does not have is any evidence of a meeting of the minds between its agents and Olson that he was working for, and responsible to, Kape. He denied being Kape's subcontractor and they did not treat him as one.

On the other hand, Chebultz and Olson presented documentary, as well as testimonial, evidence of such an agreement between them, as well as a course of conduct of purchase of supplies, payment for supplies, etc. that demonstrates an owner/contractor or general contractor/subcontractor relationship. C.W. Olson Painting & More quotes, R. 3, at 78; see Olson Depo., R. 3, at 49:22-25; R. 3, at 51:9-12. Kape has produced nothing, including testimony, to demonstrate that any of the basic requirements of a subcontract were ever addressed with Olson, including assumption of liability. No certificates of insurance for Olson have been produced nor any evidence that the subject was even broached with him.

The only document that was furnished to Kape from Olson was the Nov. 20, 2011 quote or invoice from Olson. Kape claimed it was a bid proposal, and Olson asserted that it was a final invoice for work done, submitted so he could get paid by insurance. In either case it is irrelevant. The document does not establish or reflect a meeting of the minds constituting a subcontract between Olson and the agents of Kape. It was addressed to Col. James and Chebultz.

The document and the attendant circumstances merely demonstrate that Kape's primary area of business is in insurance restoration claims and its agent was using that expertise to assist Olson in the process necessary to be compensated for his work and to insure that the insurance company had what it needed to issue the second and final check for the claim from which Kape could expect to be paid. Furthermore, that document cannot be used as evidence of an element of a subcontract to establish terms for labor and materials because Kape did not pay for Olson's labor or the materials used by Olson. Chebultz paid Olson and paid for the materials purchased for and used in the basement project, an action that alone would have given Kape reason to deny liability in the event of a complaint against it by Chebultz regarding some aspect of the work performed by Olson.

Kape asserts that its agents' casual encounter with Olson rises to the level of a contractor/subcontractor relationship despite the informal nature of the arrangement. Kape's general liability insurance policy includes a "Warranty of Subcontractor Limits" endorsement page that shows there are at least some requirements of formalization to create such a relationship. Evidence that Kape possessed Olson's Certificates of Insurance, as required by Kape's own insurer, could help substantiate the claim that Olson was Kape Roofing's subcontractor; at minimum, it would be evidence that Kape was properly documenting the relationship as required by its insurance company. Kape made no showing of compliance with that requirement.

Sawyer, Ducolon, and Cooper all primarily based their opinion that Olson was Kape's subcontractor on the notion that they provided his services, i.e., made a referral of Olson to Chebultz, and that he had done some other jobs for them. However, on the other jobs he was paid directly by Kape. On Chebultz's project, Olson was paid by Chebultz. Thus, Kape's

unilateral notion that those factors somehow render Olson their subcontractor is insufficient, as a matter of law, to establish the subcontractor relationship, in the absence of any evidence that (1) Olson considered himself employed by them and responsible to them; (2) Kape required proof of insurance from Olson as its insurance provided; (3) Kape's agents supervised the work or gave the basement project a final inspection; or (4) Olson and Kape had agreed upon even the most basic of contractual terms.

Thus, the district court did not err in ruling as matter of law that Olson was not a Kape subcontractor and in granting defendants' motion for partial summary judgment. The uncontroverted evidence established that Chebultz hired Olson in an owner/contractor relationship, after Kape agents referred Olson to Chebultz. The district court's ruling should be affirmed.

II. Did the District Court Abuse Its Discretion in Striking Plaintiffs' Pleadings When Plaintiffs Failed to Appear at the Final Pretrial Conference?

Standard of Review

When plaintiffs did not appear at the scheduled pretrial on March 7, 2014, defendants moved the court to dismiss plaintiffs' case. The court granted defendant's motion for partial summary judgment, which resulted in dismissal of plaintiffs' Count 1, and struck remaining counts for failure to prosecute, in addition to granting defendant Chebultz's motion to amend his answer to add a claim for punitive damages. The striking of plaintiffs' remaining petition counts for failure to prosecute and as a sanction, in response to defendants' oral motion for dismissal was equivalent to dismissal of them pursuant to K.S.A. 2014 Supp 60-241(b)(1), and also authorized by K.S.A. 2014 Supp. 60-216(f), which provides sanctions for failure to attend pretrial. Either way, this Court reviews the district court's action using the abuse of discretion standard.

"Orders of dismissal for want of prosecution rest in the judicial discretion of the district courts in order that they may control their dockets, eliminate procrastination and delay, and expedite the orderly flow of business, subject, however, to statutory notice requirements. Such orders will not be reversed on appeal in the absence of a clear showing of abuse of judicial discretion." *Frost v. Hardin*, 218 Kan. 260, 263, 543 P.2d 941 (1975).

Judicial discretion is abused only where the court's action is deemed arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable. If reasonable persons viewing the judicial action could differ about the propriety of the action, an appellate court may not declare the action to be an abuse of discretion. See *Shay v. Kansas Dept. of Transportation*, 265 Kan. 191, 194, 959 P.2d 849 (1998) (quoting *Hawkins v. Dennis*, 258 Kan. 329, 340-41, 905 P.2d 678 [1995]).

Namelo v. Broyles, 33 Kan. App. 2d 349, 353, 103 P.3d 486, 488-9 (2004); see also Fischer v. Roberge, 34 Kan. App. 2d 312, 120 P.3d 796 (2005).

In general, decisions indicate that discretion though broad is not limitless and that the imposition of sanctions is always subject to appellate review and reversal if abuse of discretion is found....[W]here there is evidence that a party has acted in deliberate disregard of reasonable and necessary orders of a court, and where such party is afforded a hearing and an opportunity to offer evidence of excusable neglect, the imposition of a stringent sanction will not be disturbed.

Lorson v. Falcon Coach, Inc., 214 Kan. 670, 678, 522 P.2d 449, 456 (1974).

Discussion

Kape argues that "the Default Judgment Hearing...[was] without proper notice as required by K.S.A. 60-255(a)," Brief of Appellant at 17, and thus all subsequent proceedings were invalid. Under K.S.A. 60-255(a), before a default judgment may be granted opposing counsel "must be served with written notice of the request for judgment at least seven days before the hearing."

a. The March 7, 2014 Proceeding Did Not Constitute a "Default Judgment Hearing".

Kape inaccurately states that a default judgment hearing was held on March 7, 2014 without proper notice. Before this Court and below plaintiffs have focused on K.S.A. 60-255 and sought to have the district court in essence set aside a default judgment. However, when

Kape failed to appear at pretrial, defendants explained the circumstances to the district court and made oral motion to dismiss Kape's case, the court struck Kape's pleadings, both for failure to prosecute and as a sanction for failure to appear. The striking of pleadings and setting of proceedings to take evidence regarding defendant Chebultz's counterclaim did not constitute a "default hearing," although it had the practical effect of leaving Kape in a "default" posture in regard to defendant Chebultz's counterclaims. K.S.A. 60-241, 216(f) and 237 (b)(2)(A) authorized the district court's rulings on March 7, 2011, to strike Kape's pleadings and set defendant Chebultz's counterclaim for default hearing on April 18, 2014. This date was later reset to June 4, 2014 to comply with the K.S.A. 60-255(a) requirement of notice.

Forer v. Perez-Lambkins, 42 Kan. App. 2d 742, 216 P. 3d 718 (2009), cited by Kape, has no application here. This district court did not grant a default judgment on March 7, sua sponte or otherwise. No default was entered. This case is more analogous to Bazine State Bank v. Pawnee Prod. Serv., Inc., 245 Kan. 490, 781 P. 2d 1077 (1989), cert. denied 495 U.S. 932, 110 S. Ct. 2173, 109 L. Ed. 2d 502 (1990), referenced in the Forer decision, where an oral request for default was made and not ruled on, and notice mailed to all parties prior to the exparte grant of default judgment. Although, after granting defendants' motion for summary judgment on the mechanic's lien and striking plaintiffs' remaining allegations, the district court clearly stated that there was nothing left but Chebultz's counterclaims, Tran. (3/7/14), R. 18, 14: 16-21, and certainly understood that defendant Chebultz wished to proceed to judgment on his counterclaims, the court did not at that time grant judgment against plaintiffs in favor of defendant Chebultz, but set the matter for presentation of evidence. Chebultz filed notice of the money damages he was seeking. Prior to trial the court clearly stated that it had not given default

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